Before the

Administrative Hearing Commission

State of Missouri

DIRECTOR OF DEPARTMENT OF
)

PUBLIC SAFETY,
)



)



Petitioner,
)




)


vs.

)

No. 99-3461 PO




)

STEVEN P. LOWER,

)




)



Respondent.
)

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW


On November 17, 1999, the Director of the Department of Public Safety filed a complaint seeking to discipline the peace officer certificate of Steven P. Lower for depriving someone of their civil rights under color of law.  On July 14, 2000, we convened a hearing on the complaint.  Assistant Attorney General Krista Boston represented the Director.  Though notified of the time and place of the hearing, Lower made no appearance.  The Director filed a written argument on July 14, 2000.  

Finding of Fact


Lower holds current and active peace officer Certificate No. ####-##-####.  On October 15, 1999, the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri found Lower guilty on 

his guilty plea of depriving a person of civil rights under color of law in violation of 18 U.S.C. section 242.  The court imposed a sentence of probation for three years and restitution.
  

United States v. Lower, No. 4:99CR146JCH. 

Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear the Director’s complaint.  Section 590.135.6.
  The Director has the burden of proving that Lower has committed conduct for which the law allows discipline. Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  The Director cites Lower’s conviction under 18 U.S.C. section 242, which defines the following offense:  

Whoever, under color of any law, statute, ordinance, regulation, or custom, willfully subjects any person in any State, Territory, Commonwealth, Possession, or District to the deprivation of any rights, privileges, or immunities secured or protected by the Constitution or laws of the United States, or to different punishments, pains, or penalties, on account of such person being an alien, or by reason of his color, or race, than are prescribed for the punishment of citizens, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than one year, or both; and if bodily injury results from the acts committed in violation of this section or if such acts include the use, attempted use, or threatened use of a dangerous weapon, explosives, or fire, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than ten years, or both; and if death results from the acts committed in violation of this section or if such acts include kidnapping or an attempt to kidnap, aggravated sexual abuse, or an attempt to commit aggravated sexual abuse, or an attempt to kill, shall be fined under this title, or imprisoned for any term of years or for life, or both, or may be sentenced to death.

(Emphasis added.)  That statute sets out three separate penalty provisions for the deprivation of rights, deprivation of rights with bodily injury, and deprivation of rights with the other wrongful acts.  

A.

The Director cites section 590.135.2(1), which allows discipline for:

Conviction of a felony[.]

The Director argues that Lower has a felony conviction.  He cites 18 U.S.C. section 3559, which provides:  

(a) Classification. - An offense that is not specifically classified by a letter grade in the section defining it, is classified if the maximum term of imprisonment authorized is -

(1) life imprisonment, or if the maximum penalty is death, as a Class A felony;


(2) twenty-five years or more, as a Class B felony;

(3) less than twenty-five years but ten or more years, as a Class C felony;

(4) less than ten years but five or more years, as a Class D
felony; 

(5) less than five years but more than one year, as a Class E felony;

(6) one year or less but more than six months, as a Class A 
misdemeanor;

(7) six months or less but more than thirty days, as a Class B misdemeanor;

(8) thirty days or less but more than five days, as a Class C
misdemeanor; or

(9) five days or less, or if no imprisonment is authorized, as
an infraction.

(Emphasis added.)  18 U.S.C. section 3559 divides crimes into felonies at one year of  imprisonment:  one year maximum is a misdemeanor; more than one year is a felony.  Therefore, Lower is subject to discipline if the Director shows that his conviction carries a year or more in prison.  

The Director argues that the bodily injury provision of 18 U.S.C. section 242 is a felony because it allows ten years’ imprisonment.  We agree.  However, the record does not show that Lower was convicted under that provision.  A violation of 18 U.S.C. section 242 is not a felony unless it is for a deprivation of rights with bodily injury (or the other wrongful acts).  Otherwise, it is only a misdemeanor conviction.  The record contains nothing from which we can infer a felony conviction. 
  

Because the Director has not shown that Lower was convicted of a felony, the Director has not shown that Lower is subject to discipline under section 590.135.2(1).  

B.
The Director also cites section 590.135.2(6), which allows discipline for:

Gross misconduct indicating inability to function as a peace officer[.]

(Emphasis added).  

Misconduct means “the willful doing of an act with a wrongful intention[;] intentional wrongdoing.”  Missouri Bd. for Arch’ts, Prof’l Eng’rs & Land Surv’rs v. Duncan, No. AR-84-0239, at 125 (Mo. Admin. Hearing Comm’n, Nov. 15, 1985), aff’d, 744 S.W.2d 524 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988).  The term “gross” indicates that either an especially egregious mental state or harm is required.  Id. at 533.  The duties of a peace officer include “maintaining public order, 

preventing and detecting crimes and enforcing the laws.”  Baer v. Civilian Personnel Div., 

St. Louis Police Officers Ass’n, 747 S.W.2d 159, 161 (Mo. App., W.D. 1988) (citing Jackson County v. Missouri Bd. of Mediation, 690 S.W.2d 400, 403 (Mo. banc 1985)).  

Lower’s guilty plea to a violation of 18 U.S.C. section 242 is evidence that he committed a deprivation of rights under color of law.  Mandacina v. Liquor Control Bd. of Review, 

599 S.W.2d 240, 243 (Mo. App., W.D. 1980).  All of the acts described in 18 U.S.C. 242 are especially egregious.  Any one of them shows that Lower cannot enforce the law.  Therefore, Lower is subject to discipline under section 590.135.2(6).  

Summary


The Director has not shown that Lower’s peace officer certificate is subject to discipline under section 590.135.2(1).   


We conclude that Lower’s peace officer certificate is subject to discipline under section 590.135.2(6).  


SO ORDERED on August 2, 2000.



________________________________



WILLARD C. REINE



Commissioner

�This was not a suspended imposition of sentence or a suspended execution of sentence.  Under 18 U.S.C. 3561, a term of probation is a sentencing option.  





�All statutory references are to the 1999 Supplement to the Revised Statutes of Missouri.


�The complaint alleges that Lower inflicted bodily injury on the victim.  If the Director had shown that the conviction was under that provision, it would prove a felony conviction.  However, the Director entered no evidence of the underlying act into the record.  We cannot draw any inference from the indictment charging bodily injury, attached to the Director’s written argument, because it is not part of the record.  State ex rel. National Lead Co. v. Smith, 134 S.W.2d 1061, 1068-69 (Mo. App., St.L. 1940).  To be admissible, court records must conform to section 490.130, as Petitioner’s Exhibit 1 did.  Lyons v. Lyons Truck Serv., 831 S.W.2d 706, 709 (Mo. App., W.D. 1992).  Similarly, we cannot infer that the conviction was a felony under 18 U.S.C. section 3561 (relating to maximum probation allowed) because it allows up to five years’ probation for a misdemeanor (two years more than Lower received).  
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